
Please ask for  Elaine Wilkes: Telephone (01362) 656354 
e-mail: elaine.wilkes@breckland.gov.uk 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - STANDARDS COMMITTEESTANDARDS COMMITTEESTANDARDS COMMITTEESTANDARDS COMMITTEE 

Date & Time - TUESDAY, 15 APRIL, 2008 AT 2.15 pm 

Venue - NORFOLK ROOMS, CONFERENCE SUITE, 
ELIZABETH HOUSE, WALPOLE LOKE, 
DEREHAM 

 
 

 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 
working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, 

this will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 

Committee Members 
  
Mr. M. Eveling JP (Independent) 
Mrs. J. Jenkins (Independent) 
Mr. D. Myers (Breckland) 
Mrs. M. Oechsle JP (Parish) 

Mr. B. Rayner (Parish) 
Mr. F. Sharpe (Breckland) 
Mr. M. Whittley (Parish) 
Mr. D. Williams JP (Breckland) 
 
Mr. G. Ridgway (Independent – designate) 
 

 
 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn off mobile telephones 

Committee Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Friday, 4 April 2008  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Standards Committee 
15 April 2008 

 

 

 

PART APART APART APART A    

ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLICITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLICITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLICITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC    

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. CHAIRMAN   

 
The new Standards Committee powers as provided for under Part 10 of the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 which came 
into force on 1st April 2008 require Standards Committees to have an 
independent Chairman. 
 
Accordingly, the Committee is asked to appoint a Chairman for the ensuing 
year.  

 

2. MINUTES  1 - 4 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 4 March 2008.   

3. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.  

4. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  

 

5. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may have 
in any of the following items on the agenda.  The Members’ Code of Conduct 
requires that declarations include the nature of the interest and whether it is a 
personal or prejudicial interest.  

 

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting.   

7. NEW MEMBER   

 
At the last meeting of the Committee, members nominated Mr. George 
Ridgway of Attleborough as the third independent lay Member of the 
Committee.  Mr. Ridgway’s appointment has been recommended for 
approval to the meeting of full Council on 10th April 2008.  

 

8. SEVENTH ANNUAL ASSEMBLY OF STANDARDS COMMITTEES  5 - 9 

 
Report of the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 



Standards Committee 
15 April 2008 

 
 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

  

9. ORDERS AND REGULATIONS RELATING TO THE CONDUCT OF LOCAL 
AUTHORITY MEMBERS IN ENGLAND - UPDATE  

 

 Details are awaited on the Regulations and Guidance on the new standards 
committee powers as provided for under Part 10 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.  An update will be given at the 
meeting. (Previous minute 13/08 refers.)  

 

10. STANDARDS BOARD FOR ENGLAND: ADJUDICATION PANEL: 
APPEALS TRIBUNAL DECISION: COUNCILLOR J.P. MCCARTHY, 
WATTON TOWN COUNCIL (ITEM FOR INFORMATION)  

10 - 14 

 
Further to minute 50/07 of the meeting held on 14 November 2007 in respect 
of the Committee’s hearing into a complaint against Councillor J.P. McCarthy 
of Watton Town Council, attached for members’ information is a copy of the 
published tribunal decision of the Adjudication Panel for England into an 
appeal by Councillor McCarthy against the decision of Breckland Council. 
 
The Appeals Tribunal decision was to uphold the sanction imposed by the 
Standards Committee.  

 

11. NEXT MEETING   

 To note the date of the next meeting on 27 May 2008.   



1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

Held on Tuesday, 4 March 2008 at 2.15 pm in 
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham 

 
PRESENT  
Mr D.R. Williams JP (Chairman) 
Mrs J. Jenkins 
Mr D.S. Myers 
 

Mrs M. Oechsle JP 
Mr M.D. Eveling JP 
Mr F.J. Sharpe 
 

 
In Attendance  
John Chinnery - Solicitor & Standards Consultant 
Stephen McGrath - Principal Committee Officer 

 
 
 Action By 

6/08 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)  
 

 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 22nd January 2008 were 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

 

   

7/08 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2)  
 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Susan Allen (Standards 
Officer) and Malcolm Whittley.  

 

   

8/08 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3)  
 

 
(a) New Members - Welcome 
 
The Chairman explained that the Membership of the Standards 
Committee had increased with effect from 21st February 2008 to 9 
members.  He welcomed the new Members on to the Committee 
and wished them well for the future.  He then pointed out that the 
regulations with regard to the Standards Committee were changing 
and that, with effect from the next meeting, there would be a need to 
appoint an independent Chairman for this Committee.  

 

   

9/08 DECLARATION OF INTEREST (AGENDA ITEM 4)  
 

 
The following Declaration was made:- 
 
Mr D Myers – personal interest in regard to Agenda Item 10 on the 
grounds that he knew the Member of Watton Town Council who had 
been subject to the investigation and also the circumstances of that 
case.  

 

   

10/08 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 6)  
 

 
(a)  Standards Training – The Local Filter 
 
The Chairman reminded Members that Broadland District Council 
had invited the Monitoring Officers and Standards Committee 
Members from each of the Authorities in Norfolk to attend a 

 

Agenda Item 2

1



Standards Committee 
4 March 2008 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

presentation on the Standards Board for England’s Filter Model.  
This presentation would be held at the Marriott Sprowston Manor, 
Wroxham Road, Norwich on Thursday, 13th March 2008 (10.00 a.m. 
to 2.30 p.m.).   
 
The presentation would be given by Alison Dennett, Acting 
Monitoring Officer with Hull City Council, who represented one of the 
Authorities that participated in the Standard Board for England’s 
Filter Model.  In addition, Paul Hoey, from the Standards Board for 
England, would be attending the event and time would be permitted 
within the programme to allow Monitoring Officers and Standards 
Committee Members the opportunity to raise any standards-related 
issues with him. 
 
Members agreed to note the arrangements for the training session 
as set out above.  

   

11/08 APPLICATION FOR DISPENSATION - BAWDESWELL PARISH 
COUNCIL (AGENDA ITEM 7)  

 

 
Members gave consideration to an application for a dispensation 
from Bawdeswell Parish Council in respect of Former Highway 
Surveyor’s Land in Bawdeswell.  The 7 parish councillors were all 
Trustees of the former Former Highway Surveyor’s Land and, as 
such, would have to declare an interest. 
 
RESOLVED that a dispensation be granted until the end of May 
2011 to the under-mentioned named members of Bawdeswell 
Parish Council to allow them to speak and vote on any matters 
relating to the Former Highway Surveyor’s Land in Bawdeswell:- 
 
Mr John Mallen (Chairman) 
Mr David Shannon (Vice-Chairman) 
Mr J Lilwall 
Mr M Hipperson 
Mr D Cockburn 
Mr C Beane 
Mr W Mason.  

 
 
 
 
 
Standards 
Officer 

   

12/08 STANDARDS COMPLAINTS: LOCAL FILTER: TERMS OF 
REFERENCE OF COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 8)  

 

 
The Solicitor and Standards Consultant reported that the new draft 
Regulations were not available but it was expected that they would 
grant the new powers and duties directly to Standards Committee or 
to sub-Committees of that Committee.   Whether or not that proved 
to be the case, it was recommended that a new provision should be 
inserted into the Committee’s Terms of Reference.  The new 
wording would also cover the situation where issues were not within 
the scope of the Code of Conduct. 
 
RECOMMENDED that  Council be asked to agree the following 
changes to the Standard Committee’s Terms of Reference:- 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Solicitor & 
Standards 
Consultant for 
Council 10/4/08 

2



Standards Committee 
4 March 2008 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

13.  (Minor amended wording) 
 
     “To hear any formal complaints against Members (including 

parish councillors) which are not within the scope of the Code of 
Conduct and to make recommendations to full Council or to the 
relevant Town/Parish Council where appropriate. 

 
14. To deal with any assessments, reviews, hearings or other 

matters relating to complaints under the Member’s Code of 
Conduct in accordance with legislation.”  

   

13/08 ORDERS AND REGULATIONS RELATING TO THE CONDUCT 
OF LOCAL AUTHORITY MEMBERS IN ENGLAND - UPDATE 
(AGENDA ITEM 9)  

 

 
The Solicitor and Standards Consultant informed Members that 
details on the Regulations and Guidance on the new Standards 
Committee powers as provided for under Part 10 of the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 were still 
awaited.  He confirmed that he had spoken to a representative of 
the Standards Board earlier that morning and had been advised that 
the start date for the implementation of these regulations had been 
deferred a month to 1st May 2008.  The Standards Board for 
England were still preparing the draft guidance which was expected 
to be available later this month.  Similarly, the Regulations had not 
been available as further discussion on several matters was still 
taking place. 
 
Members were informed that the delay in implementing the 
Regulations was welcome as it gave officers more time to prepare 
the paperwork required, albeit it was hoped that the guidance would 
produce templates for much of this documentation.  Officers had 
been advised that the new Regulations would repeal all of the 
current regulations. 
 
During discussion of this item, the Chairman advised that the 
requirement to appoint an independent Chairman with effect from 1st 
April 2008 would be unaffected by the delay in introducing the new 
regulations and thereby a new independent Chairman would be 
appointed at the next meeting of the Standards Committee on 15th 
April 2008.   
 
Members agreed to note the progress made to date.  

 

   

14/08 STANDARDS BOARD FOR ENGLAND: INVESTIGATION 
REPORT - COUNCILLOR B. WYKES: WATTON TOWN COUNCIL 
(AGENDA ITEM 10)  

 

 
The Report on the Recommendation of the Standards Board for 
England in this matter was noted. 
 
During discussion of the Report, Members highlighted that there had 
been several instances of problems relating to Code of Conduct 
issues relating to Watton Council.  It was agreed to offer Code of 
Conduct training to the Town Council and officers were asked to 
monitor the situation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3



Standards Committee 
4 March 2008 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 
 
RESOLVED that  the Standards Officer be asked to offer Code of 
Conduct training for Members and the Clerk to Watton Town 
Council, monitor the situation and discuss possible future action with 
the new Chairman of the Standards Committee if the problem 
continues.  

 

Standards 
Officer 

   

15/08 APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL INDEPENDENT MEMBER 
(AGENDA ITEM 11)  

 

 
The Chairman reminded members that on 17th January 2008, 
Council had increased the Standards Committee Membership, with 
effect from 21st February, to 9 Members, being 3 Breckland 
Members, 3 parish Members and 3 independent lay Members.  
There was currently 1 remaining independent lay Member 
appointment to be made.  
 
When the prospective lay Members were interviewed by this 
Committee on 17th April 2007, one applicant was noted as a 
possible reserve: Mr George Ridgway of Attleborough.  Mr Ridgway 
had recently indicated that he was still interested in the position and 
his application form had been appended to the Agenda for 
Members’ perusal.   
 
The Solicitor and Standards Consultant advised Members that a 
former member of the Standards Committee, Mr Ralph Morgan, had 
approached him with a view to him being considered for the 
vacancy.  He pointed out that if Members were to consider Mr 
Morgan for this position, it would be necessary to re-advertise the 
vacancy to see if any other applicants were forthcoming and then 
conduct interviews with any person who applied for the position.   
 
During consideration of the appointment of the independent 
Member, Members unanimously agreed that Mr Ridgway had been 
appointed as the reserve last year, during which 15 candidates were 
interviewed.  As such, it was felt that Mr Ridgway was the best 
applicant for the post.   
 
RECOMMENDED that Council be asked to appoint Mr G Ridgway 
as the third independent lay Member of the Committee.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Solicitor & 
Standards 
Consultant for 
Council 10/4/08 

   

16/08 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 12)  
 

 
RESOLVED that the next meeting of the Standards Committee be 
held on 15th April 2008 at 2.15 p.m. in the Norfolk Room, 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham.  

 

   
 
 
The meeting closed at 3.00 pm 
 

CHAIRMAN 

4



BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 
Report of the Deputy Chief Executive to the 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE – 15th April, 2008 
 
Seventh Annual Assembly of Standards Committees 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To decide the level of representation at the Seventh Annual Assembly of Standards 
Committees and to nominate who should attend. 

 

2. Recommendations 

 It is recommended that the Committee: 

2.1 agrees attendance at the Seventh Annual Assembly of Standards Committees on 13th 
and 14th October, 2008 at the International Conference Centre in Birmingham, together 
with two overnight stays; to enable Standards Committee members, the Monitoring 
Officer and others concerned with the Code of Conduct the opportunity to share ideas, 
opinions and experiences of the Code of Conduct and to acquire useful and essential 
information needed to make local assessment work in Breckland Council. and 

2.2 nominates who should attend. 

 
Note:  In preparing this report, due regard has been had to equality of opportunity, 
human rights, prevention of crime and disorder, environmental and risk management 
considerations as appropriate.  Relevant officers have been consulted in relation to any 
legal, financial or human resources implications and comments received are reflected in 
the report. 

3. Information, Issues and Options 

3.1 Background 

3.1.1 The Standards Committee have approved attendance at this event in previous years 
and, at the Committee’s meeting on 25th April, 2006, it was resolved at minute 19/06 
that: (2) for future years, the principle of attendance by two members in rotation plus 
an officer be agreed. 

3.2 Issues 

3.2.1 The Annual Assembly of Standards Committees is the leading conference on all 
issues concerned with the local government Code of Conduct and improving ethical 
standards.  The conference, which is held over two days at the ICC in Birmingham, 
has been running for six years. 

3.2.2 This year’s Assembly is being promoted as “Delivery the Goods: Local Standards in 
Action”.  A wide range of sessions aim to meet the needs of all delegates, from new 
independent chairs, to members of parish standards committees, to experienced 
monitoring officers. 

3.2.3 Topics to be covered at the conference will include: comprehensive guides to local 
assessment, investigations and determinations; how to deal with complex complaints 
and identify if they provide sufficient grounds for investigation; what happens if things 
go wrong; getting up to speed with the Code of Conduct; getting to grips with 
alternative action – including mediation, mentoring and training. 

Agenda Item 8

5



3.3 Options 

3.3.1 To agree attendance at the conference and determine who should attend. 

3.3.2 To not agree attendance at the conference. 

3.4 Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

3.4.1 It is recommended the Standards Committee agrees attendance at this conference 
to enable Standards Committee members, the Monitoring Officer and others 
concerned with the Code of Conduct the opportunity to share ideas, opinions and 
experiences of the Code of Conduct and to acquire useful and essential information 
needed to make local assessment work in Breckland Council. 

4. Risk and Financial Implications 

4.1 Risk  

4.1.1 This report does not require a risk assessment because the changes/issues covered 
by the recommendations are not significant in terms of risk. 

4.2 Financial  

4.2.1 The cost of attendance at this conference is £430.00 + VAT per delegate for two 
days.  This includes conference materials, refreshments, lunch and dinner on 
Monday and lunch on Tuesday. 

4.2.2 Attendance will necessitate two overnight stays at a cost of £92.00 per night per 
delegate. 

4.2.3 Additional costs would include car parking, if necessary, and travel. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 None 

6. Other Implications 

a) Equalities: An Equalities Impact Assessment has not been conducted as this is 
not a policy or a procedure.  (This has been discussed and agreed with the 
Council’s Policy Officer). 

b) Section 17, Crime & Disorder Act 1998: None 

c) Section 40, Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006: None 

d) Human Resources: None 

e) Human Rights:  None 

f) Other:  [e.g. Children’s Act 2004] - None 

7. Alignment to Council Priorities 

7.1 Your Council, Your Services – help elected councillors to act as community leader, 
champion and advocate. 

7.2 Entrepreneurial Council – maintain strong systems of governance and business 
management. 

6



8. Ward/Community Affected 

8.1 None 

 
Background Papers 
Standards Committee – 25th April, 2006 – Minute 19/06 
 
Lead Contact Officer: 
Name/Post: Susan Allen – Standards Officer 
Telephone: 01362 656395 
Email: sue.allen@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision Status (Executive Decisions only): 
Not applicable 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Proforma B 
 

7



PROFORMA B 

This PB is valid for 3 months from PB 
date 

If this PB is not longer required please 
advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original 
report it may invalidate this document, 
it must be reviewed by Finance. 

28/03/2008 Page 1 of 1 D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\
8\7\8\AI00003878\ProformaB7thAsse
mbly0.doc 

 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
PROFORMA FOR EXECUTIVE MEMBER APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF 
RESOURCES 
(REVENUE BUDGETS) 
 
FROM:   Senior Accountant – Rachel Beswick 

 

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   Seventh Annual Assembly of Standards Committees  

 
REPORT DATE: 18th April 2008 
 
 £ Year 1 
 2008/09 
  
 £ 

Total Revenue 
Requirement 
Above Budget 

0 

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total Capital cost 
 

na 
 

 Standards Committee 15th April 
2008 

Revenue cost 
 

na    

 
Financial Services Comments 
The costs for two members and one officer to attend the conference are as follows: 

• Members cost £1,616 to be funded from the budget within 056 0000 307 4702 

• Officers cost £808 to be funded from the budget within 056 0000 309 1976* 
These costs include delegation fee of £430, accommodation at two nights at a rate of 
£92, £10 parking per day and mileage costs for the return journey to Birmingham. 

 
The costs have not been included in the table above as they are covered by the current 
budgets available. 
 
Risk 
No additional financial risk is identified. 
 
Procurement 
No procurement issues identified. 
 
Gershon Efficiencies 
No Gershon efficiencies are identified with this request. 
 
* Finance Admin Note - In the first instance a budget virement will be required to be authorised by the service manager to 
cover the officer training costs, whilst the new corporate training allocation process is being worked up. If the item is 
agreed to be funded from the Corporate pot a journal of the actual costs will be required to match against the pooled 
budget currently held on cost centre 056 0000 301 1976 thereby releasing the service budget. 
 

8



  

056 
0000 
307 
4702 

557 
0000 
000 
1976  

  Members Officers  

 no. 2 1  

 cc 0.558 0.558  

Delegation cost 430 860 430  

Accommodation 92 368 184  

Car Parking 10 40 20  

Mileage 312 348 174  

  1616 808  

 

9



23 Victoria Avenue, Harrogate HG1 5RD Tel: 01423 538783: www.adjudicationpanel.co.uk

Appeals Tribunal Decision

Case Ref:     APE 0396

Hearing Date:    13 March 2008

Relevant Standards Committee: Breckland District Council

Date of Standards Committee
Decision:     27 November 2007

Name of member concerned: Councillor J P McCarthy of Watton Town
(Appellant & his authority) Council

Ethical Standards Officer (ESO): Ms Jennifer Rogers

Monitoring Officer:    Mr John Chinnery

Appeals Tribunal Members
Chairwoman:    Mrs Beverley Primhak
Member:     Mr David Billing
Member:     Mr Alex Rocke

1. The Appeals Tribunal has considered an appeal from the Appellant about the above
decision.

2. The Appellant appealed against the action which the Standards Committee decided to 
take in the light of his failure to follow paragraphs 10(a) and 10(b) of the Code of
Conduct of Watton Town Council. That action was to suspend the Appellant from
being a member of Watton Town Council for three months.

3. The President of the Adjudication Panel for England refused permission to appeal
against the finding of breach, and the grounds of appeal before the Tribunal were 
limited to a consideration of whether the sanction imposed by the Standards
Committee had been appropriate.

4. The Appellant represented himself at the hearing.  The Standards Committee and the
ESO were not represented.  The Appeals Tribunal heard oral evidence from Councillor 
McCarthy, Mrs Jacqui Seal and Mr Andrew Gardner.

5. Summary of findings of fact made by the Standards Committee:

5.1. Councillor McCarthy is the managing director of Weco Engineering Limited, an 
industrial company based on Wood Lane in Watton.

5.2. Wood Lane is a public footpath wide enough to accommodate most vehicles. It 
is approximately one hundred and twenty metres long and runs from Griston
Road to agricultural land. The entire west side of Wood Lane borders a

1

Agenda Item 10

10



currently unused industrial site. The east side of Wood Lane borders the Weco 
factory for approximately sixty metres and Wayland Cottage for approximately
forty metres.

5.3. Since 1999 Mr David Cram has lived in and run a motorcycle repair business
from Wayland Cottage. In the period since then there have been a number of
disputes between Mr Cram and Councillor McCarthy over the use of Wood
Lane, one of which involved a physical confrontation.

5.4. Mr Cram has reported Weco to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) on three
occasions over the last year.

5.5. On 11 January 2007 Mr Cram submitted a planning application to Breckland
District Council to erect a bungalow in the grounds of Wayland Cottage. The
proposed dwelling was to be situated to the south of Mr Cram’s own property. 

5.6. On 22 January 2007 Kim Sturridge, who is Weco’s administrator and Councillor
McCarthy’s daughter, wrote to Breckland District Council on behalf of Weco to
object to Mr Cram’s planning application.

5.7. At the Watton Town Council Planning Committee meeting on 30 January 2007
Councillor McCarthy declared a personal interest in Mr Cram’s planning 
application.

5.8. Councillor McCarthy was already working with the HSE to make Wood Lane 
safer for the community. Councillor McCarthy told the members of the
committee that Wood Lane was a private road used primarily for industrial and 
business purposes and was not fit for use by any additional residential
properties.

5.9. Councillor McCarthy and Councillor Lorraine McCarthy both voted against Mr 
Cram’s planning application (3PL/2007/0053/0). Councillor Cragie and Gilbert
both voted to support the application. Councillor Harvey, who had already
declared a personal interest in the application, decided to abstain. Councillor 
McCarthy used his casting vote to ensure that the Council objected to the
proposal.

6. The Standards Committee’s decision:

6.1. The Standards Committee determined that Councillor McCarthy’s interest was 
prejudicial and that as he did not withdraw from the meeting during 
consideration of the matter in question and sought to improperly influence the 
decision there was a contravention of paragraphs 10(a) and 10(b) of the Code 
of Conduct.

6.2. The Standards Committee accepted that Councillor McCarthy had learned his
lesson but they believed that the use of his casting vote elevated the
seriousness of the matter in that it changed the decision of Watton Town
Council’s Planning Committee. The Standards Committee decision was 
therefore that Councillor McCarthy should be suspended from being a member
of Watton Town Council for three months.

7. The Appellant’s grounds of appeal:

7.1. The Appellant believes that the suspension was rather harsh, bearing in mind it 
was his first offence, he had been a councillor for the past five years and not 

2

11



been in trouble before, that he apologised, and that he accepts that having
spoken to different people that he was wrong on that occasion, although at the
time did not think so. 

7.2. The Appellant took advice from the Town Clerk who at the time advised that it
was sufficient for only a personal interest to be declared.

8. The Standards Committee’s representations:

8.1. Neither the Monitoring Officer nor any other person who was present at the
hearing for the Appellant on 14 November recollects the Appellant saying that
he was acting in accordance with advice from the Town Clerk, Jacqui Seal,
despite the fact that Jacqui Seal was present as an observer throughout the
proceedings.  Mrs Seal was not asked to give any evidence. 

8.2. The Committee thought that the Appellant’s interest was blatantly prejudicial
and that he admitted that he remained in the meeting to look after the
interests of Weco and to ensure views on behalf of that company were
considered.

9. Appeals Tribunal’s findings of fact, on the evidence before it: 

9.1. Councillor McCarthy asked the Town Clerk, Mrs Seal, for advice on Mr Cram’s 
planning application one to two weeks before the Watton Town Council
meeting on 30 January 2007. On the information Mrs Seal had at the time she 
advised him that in her view he had a personal interest.

9.2. Mrs Seal was not asked for advice by Councillor McCarthy at the Watton Town
Council meeting on 30 January, other than on the issue of whether he had to
give a casting vote.  In that respect she informed him that where the votes for
and against were even, the Chair had to give a casting vote.

9.3. Mrs Seal gave evidence that if she had had all the information that was before 
the Standards Committee she would have advised the Appellant that he had a 
prejudicial interest. The Appeals Tribunal had no reason to doubt this evidence.

9.4. Councillor McCarthy did not ask the Monitoring Officer for advice on what sort 
of interest he had.

9.5. Councillor McCarthy attended a training session in 2005 on the Code of 
Conduct. The session included training on personal and prejudicial interests,
including prejudicial interests which did not involve a financial interest.  He has
had no formal training in probity and planning.

10. The Appellant’s representations:

10.1. The Appellant stated that he would like an apology for the way the matter was
handled by Breckland District Council and the Standards Board following the
Standards Committee hearing.  It took 23 days for the Standards Committee’s
decision to reach him, then the Standards Board delayed in forwarding his
letter, indicating that he wanted to appeal, to the Adjudication Panel for
England.  These delays prevented him from effectively appealing against his 
suspension as at the date of the hearing he had already served his suspension. 

10.2. He said that he had not been able to put his case properly at the Standards
Committee meeting and wanted to explain his position. At the meeting of

3

12



Watton Town Council on 30 January 2007 he vacated the chair of the planning
committee and left the room when an application relating to Premier Homes
was considered because he considered that he had a prejudicial and pecuniary 
interest in that application. Councillor Gilbert then took the chair. When he was
called back in, Councillor McCarthy was happy to leave Councillor Gilbert in the 
chair but Councillor Gilbert vacated it and so he took over the chair. In 
Councillor McCarthy’s experience this was most peculiar and was not normal
procedure and he was surprised by it.

10.3. The committee considering Mr Cram’s planning application consisted of five
councillors. One of them, Councillor Harvey, declared a personal interest and 
stated that he would not vote.  Councillor McCarthy considered that the other 
two councillors had interests just as strong as his.  He and his wife voted 
against the planning application and the other councillors voted in favour.  He 
asked the Town Clerk if he had a casting vote and the Clerk told him that he
had to use it.  As he had voted against the application, he considered it would
be wrong to use his casting vote in favour of the application, so he voted 
against it. Mr Gilbert told Mrs Cram that he would “get it sorted at Breckland”.

10.4. In retrospect Councillor McCarthy felt that he should have reported everyone 
else at the meeting to the Standards Board for not declaring interests.  There
had been reports in newspapers that the Council was always fighting and he 
wanted to get away from that and move on. He has been punished for the
misconduct of everyone else at the meeting.

10.5. He did not ask Mrs Seal to give evidence that she had advised him that he had
a personal interest because he did not want more bad publicity. She is in a 
permanent position and should be protected so that she could carry out her
work.

10.6. The planning application was put through at the second meeting at which it 
was considered, 7 votes for and 1 against. He had declared a prejudicial
interest, spoken at the meeting and then left the room.  Because of the delay
caused by the Standards Board in not letting him appeal, he is left in a position
where the planning matter has been resolved and he cannot change it. He has 
been at a personal disadvantage, damage has been caused, and he has found
it unacceptable.

11. The Appeals Tribunal’s decision

11.1. The Tribunal understood Councillor McCarthy’s frustrations in relation to the 
delay in the appeal process.  This was, however, not a matter for the Tribunal.
In any event, given the general timescales for processing appeals, the Tribunal
felt that, even if his appeal succeeded, it was unlikely that he would have been
significantly prejudiced by the delay.

11.2. With regard to whether the sanction imposed by the Standards Committee was
correct, the Tribunal was satisfied that Councillor McCarthy is a committed
councillor and is trying to do his best for the community.  It also took into 
account that this was his “first offence”. Mr Gardner gave evidence of 
Councillor McCarthy’s good character and the Tribunal was happy to accept 
this.

11.3. Councillor McCarthy said in evidence that it was a fine line as to whether he 
had a prejudicial interest.  The Tribunal did not agree. It considered that he
had a clear prejudicial interest and he should either have known that or, if

4

13



unsure, taken care to obtain proper advice, having provided all the relevant
background papers and information.  It was notable that, in evidence to the
Tribunal, Councillor McCarthy made it clear that the grant of planning
permission to Mr Cram could be damaging to his business.

11.4. Councillor McCarthy has relied on the fact that he took advice from the Town
Clerk, who advised that it was sufficient for only a personal interest to be 
declared. The Tribunal noted the evidence of Mrs Seal, in particular that if she
had had the information that was before the Standards Committee when she
advised Councillor McCarthy, such as knowledge of the history of problems 
with the use of Wood Lane, she would have advised him that he had a
prejudicial interest.  It was the Appellant’s responsibility to give Mrs Seal all the 
information she needed to give proper advice.  Fundamental to this is the fact
that it is a member’s responsibility as to what interests to declare.  As the Chair 
of the planning committee he should have been particularly careful, given the
additional powers of the Chair, including the right to a casting vote. In the 
event, the Tribunal gave little weight to the fact that he had been given advice
by Mrs Seal.

11.5. Councillor McCarthy has had training on the Code of Conduct which included 
consideration of the breadth of what a prejudicial and personal interest
involves, and, even though he has clearly been confused about when a
prejudicial interest arises, the training should have alerted him to the fact that
he was likely to have a prejudicial interest.

11.6. The Appellant has referred to the fact that he felt other members had interests
as strong as his own and that he wished not to bring bad publicity on the Town
Council.  The Tribunal does not accept that this could in any way be regarded
as a good reason for continuing to participate when he had a prejudicial
interest.  Indeed, with regard to bad publicity, it could be considered that in
fact he was making the situation worse by not properly declaring his interests.

12. Having considered all the oral and written evidence and submissions before it the
Appeals Tribunal considered that the sanction of 3 months’ suspension was 
appropriate. The Appeals Tribunal has therefore upheld the sanction imposed by the
Standards Committee. 

13. The decision of the Appeals Tribunal was unanimous.

14. A copy of this determination is being given to the Appellant, the Ethical Standards
Officer, the Standards Committee and any person who made the allegation that gave
rise to the investigation 

15. This determination will be published in a newspaper circulating in the area of the 
relevant local authority and also published on the Adjudication Panel’s website at
www.adjudicationpanel.co.uk.

B H Primhak 
Chairwoman of the Appeals Tribunal

20 March 2008

5

14


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8 Seventh Annual Assembly of Standards Committees
	Proforma B - 7th Assembly
	Proforma B_i - 7th Assembly

	10 Standards Board for England: Adjudication Panel: Appeals Tribunal Decision: Councillor J.P. McCarthy, Watton Town Council (Item for Information)

